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over a year. 

214. Senior managers including Dr. Shearling were aware of the upcoding of E/M

claims and that it put providers at risk of audit recoupment for submitting false claims but 

made a business decision that the increased reimbursement was a selling point for EMA 

with many providers. No major modifications were made to correct the upcoding errors on 

the assumption that any billing problems would be attributed to providers as they could 

override claims. 

215. Upcoded claims are material to payment and are false claims.  Mod Med

acted with actual knowledge, deliberate indifference and recklessness in providing 

software that caused providers to submit claims for reimbursement to federal programs 

and other insurers seeking reimbursement for more than was appropriate for the actual 

office visit, service provided or procedure performed. 

VI. CLAIMS FOR RELIEF

216. MMI obtained its EHR certifications through a series of false statements and

fraudulent conduct.  MMI’s EHR system did not -- and could not -- meet both the 

certification criteria and the incentive payment requirements in its operation in the field, and 

MMI concealed the failure from its certification bodies and the Government.  MMI caused 

Eligible Professionals falsely to attest to using certified EHR technology and to satisfying 

Meaningful Use objectives and measures and to submit false information on their attestations 

requesting incentive payments.   

217. MMI also knowingly caused customers who participated in the Medicare

program to submit false and inaccurate data on PQRS quality measures to CMS and to 

the MIPS program, which resulted in the customers receiving upward payment adjustments, or 
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avoiding downward payment adjustments, to which they were not entitled.   

218. In addition, MMI’s violations of the Anti-Kickback statute and knowing upcoding 

of claims submitted to federal health insurance programs for services and procedures, caused 

providers to submit false claims for payment to the Government. 

219. Through the conduct discussed above, MMI knowingly caused the submission 

of false claims and false statements material to false claims to be submitted to the 

Government.   

Count One 

False Claims Act 

31 U.S.C. §§ 3729(a)(1)(A), (B), (C), & (G) 

 

220. Relator realleges and incorporates by reference the allegations contained in 

paragraphs 1 through 220 above as though fully set forth herein. 

221. This is a claim for treble damages and penalties under the False Claims Act, 31 

U.S.C. § 3729, et seq., as amended. 

222. By virtue of the acts described above, Defendants knowingly presented or caused 

to be presented, false or fraudulent claims to the United States Government for payment or 

approval. 

223. By virtue of the acts described above, Defendants knowingly made or used, or 

caused to be made or used, false or fraudulent records or statements material to false or 

fraudulent claims for payment by the Government. 

224. By virtue of the acts described above, Defendants knowingly caused its customers 

to conceal or improperly avoid or decrease an obligation to pay or transmit money or property to 

the Government;  

225. By virtue of the acts described above, Defendants knowingly conspired with 
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others to violate the FCA.  Moreover, Defendant took substantial steps toward the completion 

of the goals of that conspiracy by the conduct alleged herein.  

226. Relator cannot at this time identify all of the false claims for payment that were 

caused by Defendants; conduct.  The false claims were presented by several separate entities.  

Relator does not have access to the records of all such false or fraudulent statements, records or 

claims. 

227. The Government, unaware of the falsity of the records, statements and claims 

made or caused to be made by Defendants, paid and continues to pay the claims that would not 

be paid but for Defendants’ illegal conduct. 

228. By reason of Defendants’ acts, the United States has been damaged, and continues 

to be damaged, in a substantial amount to be determined at trial.  

229. Additionally, the United States is entitled to the maximum penalty for each and 

every violation arising from Defendants’ unlawful conduct alleged herein. 

PRAYER 

WHEREFORE, qui tam Plaintiff-Relator Amanda B. Long prays for judgment against 

the Defendants as follows: 

1. That Defendants cease and desist from violating 31 U.S.C. § 3729 et seq. 

2. That this Court enter judgment against Defendants in an amount equal to three times 

the amount of damages the United States has sustained because of Defendants’ actions, plus a 

civil penalty for each violation of 31 U.S.C. § 3729; 

3. That Relator be awarded the maximum amount allowed pursuant to § 3730(d) of the 

False Claims Act.  
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4. That Relator be awarded all costs of this action, including attorneys’ fees and 

expenses; and 

5. That Relator recover such other relief as the Court deems just and proper. 
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DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

Pursuant to Rule 38 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, Relator hereby demands a 

trial by jury. 

Dated:  May 21, 2021 

 

DOWNS RACHLIN MARTIN PLLC 

 

 

By:  ________/s/__________________ 

Tristram J. Coffin 

Downs Rachlin Martin PLLC 

199 Main Street 

Burlington, VT 05402-0190 

Tel: 802-846-8640 

Fax: 802-862-7512 

tcoffin@drm.com 

 

 

PHILLIPS & COHEN LLP 

 

       By:   Colette G. Matzzie 

Phillips & Cohen LLP 

2000 Massachusetts Ave. NW 

Washington, D.C.  20036 

Tel: (202) 833-4567 

Fax: (202) 833-1815 

 

Larry P. Zoglin 

Phillips & Cohen LLP 

100 The Embarcadero, Suite 300 

San Francisco, CA 94105 

Tel:  (415) 836-9000 

Fax:  (415) 836-9001 

 

      Attorneys for Plaintiff-Relator Amanda B. Long 
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